### No. 45320-7-II

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This case presents both procedural and substantive questions for the Court. First, this case asks whether a trial court may disregard precedent from a higher court based on insignificant factual distinctions. Second, this case asks whether a bank may seize funds from a progress payment made to a general contractor for the benefit of subcontractors, suppliers and the contractor's surety on a public construction project, to reduce the general contractor's debt to the bank. The answer to both questions is no. The trial court improperly granted summary judgment dismissing the claims asserted by Hartford Fire Insurance Company ("Hartford") against Columbia State Bank ("the Bank") and improperly denied summary judgment against the Bank. This Court should reverse the trial court and direct judgment in favor of Hartford.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The trial court erred when it (1) granted the Bank's Motion for Summary Judgment (CP 123); and (2) denied Hartford's Motion for Summary Judgment (CP 46).

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED

When the trial court granted the Bank's motion for summary judgment and denied Hartford's motion for summary judgment it disregarded applicable Washington law. The trial court decided as a matter of law that the authority set forth in *Westview Investments, Ltd. v. U.S. Bank Nat. Ass'n*, 133 Wn.App. 835 (Div. 1 2006) and *Levinson v. Linderman*, 51 Wn.2d 855, 322 P.2d 863 (1958) were not controlling and chose instead to follow the Ninth Circuit decision of *Reliance Ins. Co. v. U.S. Bank of Wash., N.A.,* 143 F.3d 502 (9th Cir. 1998). The trial court also concluded that no issues of material fact precluded summary judgment in the Bank's favor.

Did the trial court err when it granted the Bank's motion for summary judgment dismissing Hartford's causes of action on the grounds that *Westview Investments, Ltd. v. U.S. Bank Nat. Ass'n,* 133 Wn.App. 835 (Div. 1 2006) and *Levinson v. Linderman,* 51 Wn.2d 855, 322 P.2d 863 (1958) were not controlling law and that Hartford had no right to trust funds swept by the Bank?

Did the trial court err when it denied Hartford's motion for summary judgment requesting relief against the Bank for misappropriation of trust funds, wrongful set-off and conversion on

the grounds that *Westview Investments, Ltd. v. U.S. Bank Nat. Ass'n*, 133 Wn.App. 835 (Div. 1 2006) and *Levinson v. Linderman*, 51 Wn.2d 855, 322 P.2d 863 (1958) were not controlling law?

Did the trial court err when it determined no issues of material fact existed that would preclude summary judgment in the Bank's favor?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. <u>Factual History</u>.

# 1. Hartford Issued Payment and Performance Bonds to Waka Group, Inc.

Hartford acted as surety to Waka Group, Inc. ("Waka"), a general contractor, by issuing various surety bonds on behalf of Waka in connection with Waka's construction contracts.<sup>1</sup> On or about June 13, 2011, as partial consideration for Hartford's agreement to issue bonds to Waka, Hartford and Waka executed a General Indemnity Agreement ("GIA").<sup>2</sup> The GIA created an express trust for all project funds earned by Waka on projects bonded by Hartford.<sup>3</sup> The GIA states:

- <sup>1</sup> CP 64.
- ² ld.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CP 68-77.

<u>Trust Fund</u>. If a Bond is Underwritten in connection with the performance of any contract, the entire contract price shall be dedicated to the satisfaction of the obligations of the Bond and this Agreement. All money paid or any securities, warrants, checks or evidences of debt given under contracts relating to or for which a Bond has been issued <u>shall be</u> <u>impressed with a trust</u> for the purpose of satisfying the obligations of the Bond Underwritten for said contract and this Agreement and shall be used for no other purpose until all such obligations have been fully satisfied.<sup>4</sup>

In early 2012, Waka contracted with the General Services Administration ("GSA") to perform a project in Dalton, Alaska (the "Project") to renovate a border station.<sup>5</sup> On or about March 1, 2012, Hartford issued Performance and Payment Bond No. 52BCSGC8757 on behalf of Waka for the Dalton Project ("Bond").<sup>6</sup> Pursuant to the terms of the Bond, Hartford's obligations included the payment of all subcontractors and suppliers, as well as the completion of the Project, in the event of Waka's default.<sup>7</sup>

Waka's contract with the GSA also expressly required the funds paid to Waka be held in trust for Waka's subcontractors and suppliers.<sup>8</sup> The GSA contract incorporated Federal Acquisition

<sup>7</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CP 71 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> CP 98.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CP 79-82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> CP 344.

Regulation 52.232-5, which specifically mandated Waka to certify to the government with each request for payment: (1) a listing of amounts previously paid to each subcontractor on the project; (2) that all payments due to subcontractors and suppliers from previous payments have been made; and (3) that *"timely payments will be made from the proceeds of this payment"* to subcontractors and suppliers.<sup>9</sup>

#### 2. Waka and the Bank.

Waka obtained a line of credit account and business checking account with the Bank.<sup>10</sup> Waka used these accounts for its business banking, which primarily consisted of obtaining progress payments from project owners and then issuing payments to its subcontractors and suppliers.<sup>11</sup> On the Dalton Project, the GSA would wire money directly into Waka's bank account.<sup>12</sup>

When approving Waka's line of credit, the Bank performed a detailed audit of Waka's accounting records and practices.<sup>13</sup> The purpose of the audit was for the Bank to evaluate Waka's accounting systems, including how money was received from

<sup>9</sup> CP 347-349.
 <sup>10</sup> CP 100, 104.
 <sup>11</sup> CP 100, 102.
 <sup>12</sup> *Id.* <sup>13</sup> CP 102.

owners and paid out to subcontractors and suppliers.<sup>14</sup> The Bank was aware that Waka was a general contractor who regularly used subcontractors and suppliers.<sup>15</sup> The Bank was also aware that Hartford served as Waka's bonding company.<sup>16</sup>

In June 2012, Waka began having difficulty performing its work the Dalton Project.<sup>17</sup> On June 18, 2012, the Bank had an inperson meeting with Waka where the Bank advised that it would be calling Waka's line of credit.<sup>18</sup> Waka informed the Bank at that meeting that it would not be able to complete its ongoing projects, which included the Dalton Project, if the line of credit was revoked.<sup>19</sup>

#### 3. Waka's Default and Hartford's Takeover.

Following Waka's meeting with the Bank, also on June 18, 2012, Hartford first learned of Waka's difficulties on the Dalton Project and that Waka's completion of the project was unlikely.<sup>20</sup>

- <sup>14</sup> Id.
- <sup>15</sup> CP 101. <sup>16</sup> *Id*.
- <sup>17</sup> CP 99.
- <sup>18</sup> CP 103. <sup>19</sup> *Id*.
- <sup>20</sup> CP 99.

Ultimately, Waka ceased performing the Dalton Project with approximately 55-60% of the work left unfinished.<sup>21</sup>

After receiving the informal notice from Waka, Hartford commenced steps to take over and complete the Dalton Project.<sup>22</sup> On June 20, 2012, Hartford notified the GSA that it would be taking over the Project.<sup>23</sup> Waka provided formal written notice to Hartford of its inability to complete the Dalton Project on June 21, 2012.<sup>24</sup> To effectuate the takeover, Hartford and Waka requested the GSA transmit all Dalton Project progress payments directly to Hartford to facilitate completion of the job and to pay Waka's subcontractors and suppliers.<sup>25</sup> The GSA acknowledged Hartford's right to the Project funds and agreed to remit future payments to Hartford.<sup>26</sup>

#### 4. The June 21, 2012 Progress Payment.

There are very few relevant facts necessary to evaluate the legal merits of this case. While three events that occurred on a single day – June 21, 2012 – could be seen as the events that caused this dispute, such a narrow view should not be taken. The

- <sup>21</sup> Id.
- <sup>22</sup> CP 64.
- <sup>23</sup> CP 86.
- <sup>24</sup> CP 84.
- <sup>25</sup> CP 86, 380.
- <sup>26</sup> CP 88.

three June 21, 2012 events are set forth below; however, it should be noted that the only truly relevant event that occurred on June 21. 2012 is that the Bank swept the funds without making any inquiry as to the nature of the funds. Had the Bank fulfilled its legal duty to undertake such an inquiry, it would have discovered that the funds at issue had long since been impressed with a trust as established in both the GIA and the GSA contract.

Not only did the Bank wrongfully sweep the funds without inquiry, the Bank was never meant to receive the funds in the first place. When Hartford contacted the GSA on June 20, 2012, the GSA informed Hartford that the GSA had already initiated an electronic transmittal of a progress payment of \$103,410.00 to Waka's bank account, but that it would immediately attempt to redirect this payment to Hartford.<sup>27</sup> Unfortunately, the GSA was unable to redirect the transfer to Hartford in time. Hence, despite the intentions of the GSA and Waka, the funds were deposited in Waka's checking account on or about June 21, 2012.<sup>28</sup>

Once the electronic transmission of the funds was complete, the Bank swept Waka's bank account of all funds to partially satisfy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> CP 65. <sup>28</sup> *Id*., CP 108-109.

the debt owed on Waka's line of credit.<sup>29</sup> The Bank chose to sweep the GSA funds without making any inquiry to Waka or the GSA as to whether the funds were trust funds.<sup>30</sup> Waka's bank statement showed the funds were swept on June 22, 2012; however, the Bank has alleged the funds were actually removed on June 21, 2012.<sup>31</sup>

On June 21, 2012, Hartford transmitted a letter to the Bank notifying the Bank of Waka's default and that any Project funds that had or may come into Waka's bank account were bonded trust funds to be held by the Bank for the benefit of Hartford and Waka's subcontractors and suppliers.<sup>32</sup> Unbeknownst to Hartford at the time, the Bank's sweep had allegedly occurred mere hours before the Bank received Hartford's letter. Following the receipt of Hartford's letter, the Bank denied Hartford's right to the trust funds and refused to return the swept funds to Hartford.<sup>33</sup>

Consistent with the express terms of the GIA, Hartford intended to use the progress payment funds to help complete the Project and to satisfy Waka's payment obligations to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> CP 252.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> CP 220.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> CP 109, 252.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> CP 90.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> CP 117-118.

subcontractors, suppliers, and materialmen.<sup>34</sup> In August 2012, Hartford sent additional demands to the Bank for the return of the July 21, 2012 progress payment, but the Bank failed to comply.<sup>35</sup>

In total, Hartford incurred \$750,804.00 in losses on bonds issued to Waka.<sup>36</sup> With regard to the Dalton Project, Hartford incurred losses of \$365,868 associated with the completion of the work, including \$100,350 in payments to Waka's subcontractors, suppliers and other materialmen.<sup>37</sup>

#### Β. PROCEDURAL HISTORY.

On or about January 17, 2013, Hartford filed a complaint against the Bank in Pierce County Superior Court seeking relief for: (1) Misappropriation of Trust Funds; (2) Wrongful Setoff; (3) Conversion; and (4) Declaratory Relief.<sup>38</sup> The parties brought cross-motions for summary judgment, wherein Hartford sought recovery of the funds based on the Bank's misappropriation of the trust funds and wrongful setoff and the Bank sought dismissal of all of Hartford's claims.39

- <sup>34</sup> CP 65. <sup>35</sup> CP 112-115; 120-122.
- <sup>36</sup> CP 65.
- <sup>37</sup> CP 374.
- <sup>38</sup> CP 1-8.
- <sup>39</sup> CP 46; 123.

Oral argument for both motions was held on August 9, 2013 before the Honorable Garold E. Johnson.<sup>40</sup> Hartford's motion explained that under the law set forth in *Westview Investments, Ltd. v. U.S. Bank Nat. Ass'n*, 133 Wn.App. 835 (Div. 1 2006), the Bank's sweep of the trust funds, and subsequent refusal to return the funds, was wrongful because the Bank knew or should have known the funds were trust funds to be held for the benefit of Hartford and Waka's subcontractors and suppliers.<sup>41</sup> Hartford further argued that, at a minimum, under *Westview*, the Bank had a duty to inquire as to the nature of the funds before sweeping the funds for its own benefit, and the Bank ignored this duty by essentially burying its head in the sand.<sup>42</sup> The Bank's failure to inquire was willful, wrongful, and could not result in its retention of the funds.

Additionally, Hartford argued that under the law set forth in *Levinson v. Linderman*, 51 Wn.2d 855, 322 P.2d 863 (1958), Hartford had an equitable lien on the funds, giving Hartford a priority right to the funds over the rights of the Bank.<sup>43</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> See Verbatim Report of Proceedings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> CP 46-62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Id.

The Bank's motion argued that Westview was

distinguishable and that the court should look to Reliance Ins. Co.

v. U.S. Bank of Wash., N.A., 143 F.3d 502 (9th Cir. 1998) to find

that the Bank seizure of the funds was not wrongful.<sup>44</sup>

At oral argument the trial court stated that it found *Westview* 

factually distinguishable from the current case. The court stated:

Because in that particular case [*Westview*] there was a pattern, wasn't there, of here come the payments. We pay the subbers; then we can draw the money off that goes to the bank. That was a pattern established in the case before the incident arose, before the default arose.

In this case the money was coming in and being disbursed out without any indication at all that there were – that there were labor claims. This was a [Miller Act] case as opposed to the *Westview* case, which is a material and mechanic lien type case.

[T]his case is distinguishable, considerably distinguishable in my mind from the *Westview* case. There was a pattern. There was a known problem going on with that particular entity, the contractor, there. This was an owner contract. This wasn't a surety stepping in. That's kind of a minor distinction; I agree with that.

Nevertheless this case is different. And I look at this as a case, there was moving these funds over for quite some time without any objection, and suddenly there's a problem that really isn't that clear that they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> CP 123-146.

knew much about it. They didn't even know the bond was in place as far as I can tell.<sup>45</sup>

Based on the oral argument transcript it appears the trial court's granting of summary judgment was entirely based on the trial court's misperception that *Westview* was inapplicable to the current dispute. It is not clear from the record the basis on which the trial court found Hartford did not have an equitable lien on the funds pursuant to *Levinson v. Linderman*, 51 Wn.2d 855, 322 P.2d 863 (1958).

#### V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

This case presents a fairly straight forward question of law, the determination of which will have substantial impact on the construction industry in Washington. The case also raises questions regarding the ability of a trial court to disregard precedent from a higher Washington court. The trial court's determination that *Westview* is not controlling law – based on insignificant and incorrect factual determinations – has created a result that directly contravenes established Washington law.

*Westview* unequivocally holds that a bank may not seize funds from a contractor's account if the bank knows, or should

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> See Verbatim Report of Proceedings at p. 4, In. 12-21; p. 24, In. 2-14.

know, that the funds are to be held in trust, and that the bank has a duty to inquire as to the nature of the funds prior to seizing the funds. The trial court made a significant departure from the plain rule laid out in *Westview* by adding an additional requirement, i.e., there must also be some sort of a pattern of practice regarding the deposits into the bank account. This constitutes error for several reasons. First and foremost, the *Westview* court did not impose such a requirement. Second, even assuming it did, the trial court failed to articulate what precise pattern the trial court believed needed to exist in order for *Westview* to apply. Lastly, the facts determined by the trial court to distinguish the *Westview* case are not supported by the record or are disputed facts that would preclude summary judgment.

This issue is of vital importance to the construction industry in Washington. Unlike a bank that may obtain various types of collateral to secure a line of credit, sureties rely on indemnity agreements and their equitable subrogation rights to project contract funds for security in the event that a bonded contractor defaults on its obligations. These sources of collateral are what help ensure that sureties are able to meet their obligations and to

step in and complete construction projects that benefit the people of this State. The recognition and enforcement of the trust fund nature of the contract funds is critical. If the law set forth in *Westview* is nullified, or so factually limited that it ceases to have precedential value, sureties in Washington will have to drastically alter their bonding practices.

Additionally, the trial court's holding creates the unseemly result where the express trust on the money is essentially abolished and entitlement turns almost entirely on when the Bank received notice from Hartford that the funds are imposed with a trust. That is, even if the funds are unquestionably trust funds (as is the case here), a bank can sidestep the consequences of that characterization by electing not to inquire about their nature and racing to sweep them before the parties legally entitled to the funds have a chance to put the institution on actual notice. The law should not, and does not, reward such underhanded practices.

#### A. Standard of Review.

Questions of law and conclusions of law are reviewed without deference to the trial court's determinations.<sup>46</sup> The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> *Sunnyside Valley Irr. Dist. v. Dickie*, 149 Wash. 2d 873, 880, 73 P.3d 369, 372 (2003).

standard of review on an order of summary judgment is also *de novo*, with the appellate court performing the same inquiry as the trial court.<sup>47</sup> The Court considers the facts, and the inferences from the facts, in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party.<sup>48</sup> The Court may grant summary judgment if the pleadings, affidavits, and depositions establish that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.<sup>49</sup>

The instant appeal involves cross-motions for summary judgment. Thus, the Appellant requests the Court determine whether the trial court erred in granting the Bank's motion for summary judgment, and whether the trial court also erred in denying Hartford's motion for summary judgment.

# B. *Westview* is the Controlling Law in Washington on This Issue.

### 1. The Trial Court Erred by Not Applying Westview.

A bank that has knowledge sufficient to require inquiry whether funds deposited by a general contractor into its bank

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Smith v. Safeco Ins. Co., 150 Wn.2d 478, 483, 78 P.3d 1274, 1276 (2003).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Jones v. Allstate Ins. Co., 146 Wn.2d 291, 300-01, 45 P.3d 1068, 1073 (2002).
 <sup>49</sup> Id.

account are trust funds cannot set off the funds to pay a debt owed the bank by the general contractor.<sup>50</sup> As explained below, that is precisely what happened in this case and such a result cannot stand under Washington law.

*Westview* involved a contractor that suffered escalating financial difficulties that eventually forced it to cease operations.<sup>51</sup> The contractor maintained several accounts with U.S. Bank, including a line of credit and a business bank account.<sup>52</sup> When U.S. Bank became concerned about the contractor's financial condition, it tied the contractor's bank account to a sweep account. U.S. Bank also obtained certain information regarding the contractor's finances.<sup>53</sup> Once U.S. Bank utilized the sweep account, the process was such that at the end of each day, U.S. Bank would sweep any funds remaining in the account on that day. At the same time, U.S. Bank was also issuing loans to the contractor on its line of credit to ensure that the contractor could pay its outstanding obligations, including those to subcontractors and suppliers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Westview 133 Wn.App. at 839.

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