II.	RESTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES	
III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE	
IV.	ARGUMENT	
	А.	Hartford Had No Subrogation Rights On June 21, 201212
	В.	Hartford's Conversion Claim Is Fatally Infirm18
	C.	The Bank Was Free To Exercise Its Right Of Setoff As To The GSA Progress Payment22
	D.	The Court Should Follow The Ninth Circuit's Reasoning In The <i>Reliance Ins. Co. v. U.S. Bank of</i> <i>Washington, N.A.</i> Case
	E.	<i>Westview</i> Is Not Governing, And It Does Not Support Hartford's Position
	F.	Hartford's Reliance On <i>Levinson v. Linderman</i> Is Misplaced
	G.	Hartford Has Failed To Show The Existence Of An Express Trust That Existed For Its Benefit
	Н.	The Bank Would Still Prevail Even If There Was An Express Trust Because The GSA Progress Payment Was A General Deposit And Not A Special Deposit
	I.	The Trial Court Did Not Make Factual Determinations46
	J.	The Trial Court Was Right To Dismiss Hartford's Claims On Summary Judgment46
V.	CONCLU	JSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

1 v

CASES
Allied Sheet Metal Fabricators, Inc. v. Peoples Nat. Bank, 10 Wn. App. 530, P.2d 734 (1974)17,19
American Cas. Co. of Reading Pa. v. Line Materials Indus., 332 F.2d 393(10th Cir. 1964)16, 21
American Fidelity Co. v. National City Bank of Evansville, 266 F.2d 910 (D.C. Cir. 1959)16
Bainbridge Citizens United v. Washington State Dep't of Natural, Res., 147 Wn. App. 365, 198 P.3d 1033 (2008)12
Bank of Arizona v. Nat'l Sur. Corp., 237 F.2d 90 (9th Cir. 1956)
California Bank v. United States Fidelity & Guarantee Co., 129 F.2d 751 (9th Cir. 1942)16
Capitol Indem. Corp. v. United States, 41 F.3d 320 (7th Cir. 1994) passim
<i>Colman v. Colman</i> , 25 Wn.2d 606, 171 P.2d 691 (1946)37
Conner v. First Nat'l Bank of Sedro-Wooley, 113 Wn. 662, 194 P. 562 (1921)22
<i>Davin v. Dowling</i> , 146 Wn. 137, 262 P. 123 (1927)19
<i>Eggert v. Vincent</i> , 44 Wn. App. 851, 723 P.2d 527 (1986)19, 20
<i>In re ADL Contracting Corp.</i> , 184 B.R. 436 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1995)
<i>In re Estate of Adler</i> , 116 Wn. 484, 199 P. 762 (1921)22
In re Kuhn Constr. Co., Inc., 11 B.R. 746 (Bankr. S.D. W. Va. 1981)

In re Massart Co., 105 B.R. 610 (W.D. Wash. 1989)21, 27
In re Washington Builders Ben. Trust, 173 Wn. App. 34, 293 P.3d 1206 (2013)
In Reliance Insurance Co. v. U.S. Bank of Washington, N.A., 143 F.3d 502 (9th Cir. 1998) passim
Int'l Fidelity Ins. Co. v. United States, 949 F.2d 1042 (8th Cir. 1991)14, 36
<i>Kruger v. Horton</i> , 106 Wn.2d 738, 725 P.2d 417 (1986)18, 20
Levinson v. Linderman, 51 Wn.2d 855, 322 P.2d 863 (1958)
Matter of RAH Development Co., Inc., 184 B.R. 525 (Bankr. W.D. Mich. 1995)
<i>Michel v. Melgren</i> , 70 Wn. App. 373, 853 P.2d 940 (1993)20
National Shawmut Bank v. New Amsterdam Cas. Co., 411 F.2d 843 (1st Cir. 1969)13, 36
National Surety Corp. v. Fisher, 317 S.W.2d 334 (Mo. 1958)13, 36
Pacific Gamble Robinson Co. v. Chef-Reddy Foods Corp., 42 Wn. App. 195, 710 P.2d 804 (1985)20
Pearlman v. Reliance Ins. Co., 371 U.S. 132, 83 S.Ct. 232, 9 L.Ed.2d 190 (1962)12, 16, 35, 36
Reliance Insurance Co. v. U.S. Bank of Washington, N.A., 143 F.3d 502 (9 th Cir. 1998)passim
Sterling Savings Bank v. Air Wisconsin Airlines Corp., 492 F.Supp.2d 1256 (E.D.Wash. 2007) passim
<i>Townsend v. Walla Walla Sch. Dist.</i> , 147 Wn. App. 620, 196 P.3d 748 (2008)12

United Pacific Ins. Co. v. United States, 362 F.2d 805 (Ct. Cl. 1966)			
United Pacific Ins. Co. v. Ripsom, 10 Del. J. Corp. L. 337 (Del. Ch. 1984)			
<i>United States v. Munsey Trust Co.</i> , 332 U.S. 234 (1947)16			
Westview Investments, Ltd. v. U.S. Bank, 133 Wn. App. 835, 138 P.3d 638 (2006) passim			
Other Authorities			
Restatement (Second) of Trusts § 30			
Restatement (Second) of Trusts, § 86			
Restatement (Third) of Trusts, § 10(e)			
Restatement (Third) of Trusts, § 41			
Grant Gilmore, Security Interests in Personal Property, 978 (1965)			

to the

I. INTRODUCTION

j

Ĩ.

This case presents a priority dispute between two competing creditors of failed government contractor WAKA Group, Inc. ("WAKA"). The dispute arises from an earned progress payment for \$103,410.00 that the United States General Services Administration (the "GSA") paid for work WAKA did at the Dalton Cache border station in Haines, Alaska (the "**Project**"). The dispute involves the Appellant ("**Hartford**") and the Respondent (the "**Bank**").

The GSA deposited the progress payment at issue into WAKA's collateral control account at the Bank. Per its agreement with WAKA, the Bank had the right to apply this money to WAKA's outstanding line of credit at the Bank. The Bank regularly applied money from WAKA's collateral control account to WAKA's outstanding line of credit at the Bank.

WAKA's line of credit at the Bank matured on May 30, 2012, WAKA failed to repay and close out this line as required, and on June 21, 2012, the Bank exercised its contractual and common law right of setoff to apply the disbursed progress payment in the collateral control account to WAKA's outstanding line of credit at the Bank. WAKA's surety on the Project, Hartford, later sued the Bank to recover the disbursed progress payment based on principles of subrogation and trust law. This despite the

fact that Hartford (a) made its first demand on the Bank after the setoff was made; (b) the setoff was made prior to the date that the Bank knew that Hartford had issued a bond to WAKA for the Project; and (c) the setoff occurred prior to the date that Hartford paid out any money at all pursuant to its bond with WAKA.

ز

5

Both parties moved for summary judgment, and the trial court granted the Bank's motion for summary judgment and denied Hartford's motion for summary judgment on August 9, 2013. In doing so, the trial court dismissed Hartford's claims for misappropriation of trust funds, wrongful setoff, conversion, and declaratory relief as a matter of law.

What Hartford is trying to do in this case is prevail on a breach of trust theory that has never been successfully employed by a surety against a construction lender in Washington. Tellingly, Hartford has to some extent backed away from its subrogation claim because it knows it cannot prevail on this theory of recovery, for Hartford did not pay any money out on its Project bond before the June 21, 2012 setoff in question. Such payment is a prerequisite for Hartford to invoke subrogation under applicable case law. The trial court recognized the infirmity of Hartford's position when it dismissed Hartford's claims on summary judgment. The Bank respectfully asks this Court to affirm the trial court's rulings in this case.

II. RESTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

في

X

1. Does a surety have first priority in an earned progress payment paid by the government to the contractor-borrower when the construction lender receives the payment before the surety notifies the lender of its claim to this payment and before the surety commences performance or makes payment under its bond? Answer: <u>No.</u>

B. Does a bank convert funds that were properly deposited in its contractor-borrower's collateral control account prior to a surety's demand for these funds by offsetting the funds against the borrower's matured indebtedness with the bank? Answer: <u>No.</u>

C. Does the progress payment at issue constitute trust funds that the Bank must disgorge to Hartford? Answer: <u>*No.*</u>

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about June 14, 2011, WAKA executed and delivered a Commercial Line of Credit Agreement and Note (the "**Note**") to the Bank. CP 218. The first page of the Note accurately and correctly states the purpose of the loan evidenced by the Note was to provide WAKA with working capital. *Id.* The Bank loaned WAKA money pursuant to the Note (the "**Loan**"). *Id.*

On or about June 14, 2011, WAKA executed and delivered a Commercial Security Agreement (the "**CSA**") to the Bank to provide collateral for the Note. CP 218. The CSA provided the Bank with a Uniform Commercial Code Article 9 security interest in all of WAKA's inventory, equipment, chattel paper, accounts, general intangibles, and the products and proceeds thereof, whether then owned or acquired later. *Id.*

لم

7

The Bank perfected its security interest in its collateral by duly and properly filing a Uniform Commercial Code Financing Statement on June 20, 2011 under File Number 2011-171-3966-3. CP 219. Said financing statement reflects a lapse date of June 20, 2016. *Id.*

On or about June 14, 2011, WAKA executed and delivered to the Bank a Business Loan Agreement regarding the Note. CP 219. On or about June 14, 2011, WAKA also executed and delivered to the Bank an Addendum to Business Loan Agreement regarding the Note. *Id.* Page 2 of the Addendum, entitled Control Account, states WAKA "shall deposit all cash, instruments and other proceeds received from the operation of [WAKA's] business into an account established with [the Bank] within two (2) business days after receipt of such amounts (the "Control Account"). *Id.* Only proceeds received from [WAKA's] non-business operations may be deposited into an account other than the Control Account. [the Bank] is authorized to pay down the unpaid Loan balance, on a daily basis, from funds in the Control Account[.]" CP 244-45.

The Bank provided WAKA with a Control Account in accordance with the parties' Business Loan Agreement and the Addendum thereto. CP 219. Each month, the Bank sent WAKA account statements for the Control Account. *Id.* These statements contained the words "BANK CONTROL COLLATERAL ACCOUNT" in capital letters. *Id.* A true and correct copy of one such statement for the period of June 2012 can be found at CP 247-48.

ت-

ĩ

Page one of the Note accurately reflects that the Note matured on May 30, 2012. CP 220. WAKA failed to repay the Loan evidenced by the Note by the aforesaid maturity date. *Id.* Accordingly, on or about June 10, 2012, the Loan was transferred to the special credits department of the Bank. *Id.* Shortly thereafter, David Stiffler at the Bank met with Andrew Wilson, WAKA's president, to discuss WAKA's situation. *Id.*

During the morning of June 21, 2012, the GSA electronically deposited a progress payment in the amount of \$103,410.00 into WAKA's collateral control account at the Bank. CP 220. This payment stemmed from the Project at the Dalton Cache border station in Haines, Alaska. *Id.*

As of June 21, 2012, the Bank had not been provided with an update regarding the status of the Project. CP 220. As of the aforesaid date, the Bank had no idea whether any subcontractors or materialmen on the Project had or had not been paid. *Id.* Moreover, as of June 21, 2012,

the Bank did not know what sureties (if any) had bonded the Project, nor did the Bank have any copies of surety bonds concerning the Project in its files. *Id.*

ć,

ĩ

On June 21, 2012 at 8:58 a.m., David Stiffler at the Bank instructed administrative assistant Christa Maier to apply the \$103,410.00 GSA progress payment and other monies from WAKA's collateral control account to the outstanding Loan balance based on the Bank's right of setoff and in accordance with the CSA and Addendum to WAKA's Business Loan Agreement. CP 220. Mr. Stiffler's email correspondence with Ms. Maier reflecting the setoff of the GSA progress payment can be found at CP 252.

The Bank applied a total of \$152,910.00 from WAKA's collateral control account to the outstanding Loan balance on June 21, 2012. CP 220. Of this \$152,910.00, \$103,410.00 came from the GSA's June 21, 2012 progress payment on the Project. *Id.*

When the Bank exercised its setoff rights on June 21, 2012, WAKA owed more than \$434,495.79 on its \$500,000.00 line of credit with the Bank. CP 221.

On June 21, 2012 at 5:14 p.m., after the close of business at the Bank, Ms. Tiffany Schaak of Hartford sent a letter to Mr. Stiffler via electronic mail. CP 221. To the best of Mr. Stiffler's recollection, he did

not open this email or access this letter on June 21, 2012, but instead opened and read these items the following morning on June 22, 2012. *Id.* A copy of the aforesaid email message and letter is located at CP 256.

Prior to receiving and reviewing Ms. Schaak's letter on June 22, 2012, the Bank had not received any correspondence from Hartford concerning WAKA or the Project. CP 221.

As seen from Ms. Schaak's letter dated June 21, 2012, Hartford stated it was "now undertaking" to perform the balance of its bonded projects with WAKA. CP 221. Said letter does not specifically identify any of these projects, provide any specific bonding information, or include a copy of any bonds that Hartford provided to WAKA. *Id.* Further, said letter does not state that Hartford had paid any money to materialmen or subcontractors on the Project pursuant to its bonds as of the date of the letter. *Id.*

Prior to Mr. Stiffler's review of Ms. Schaak's letter on June 22, 2012, the Bank did not know that Hartford had issued any bonds to WAKA, nor did the Bank know if Hartford had otherwise been involved in the Project or in any other WAKA venture. CP 221.

Immediately after Mr. Stiffler reviewed Ms. Schaak's abovedescribed letter, he sent a copy of this letter to the Bank's attorney via email at 8:49 a.m. on Friday, June 22, 2012. CP 221.

7

1

ĩ

Prior to filing suit in this case, Hartford's attorneys sent two demand letters to the Bank and/or its attorneys. CP 221. One such letter, which is dated August 10, 2012, provides that Hartford believes it is entitled to the subject progress payment because these funds were "trust funds in favor of Hartford, earned in the performance of the Project on which Hartford issued the Bond." *Id.* Said letter further provides that Hartford believes its "right to the Project Funds is superior to that of Columbia Bank under the principle of equitable subrogation" and that "Hartford has an equitable lien on the Project Funds through its rights of subrogation, which are senior to any alleged setoff rights of Columbia Bank." *Id.* A copy of this letter can be found at CP 261-64.

Ĭ.

As for Hartford's rendition of events, it claims that around June 20, 2012, WAKA informed it that its principals had retained bankruptcy counsel, but would postpone filing bankruptcy until completion of the Project. CP 153. Hartford's handwritten notes dated June 21, 2012 that were produced in discovery reflect it spoke with WAKA's president, Andy Wilson, on June 21, 2012 and Mr. Wilson said "he would voluntarily default" on the Project. CP 167.

Although Hartford previously claimed it took over the Project on June 21, 2012 (CP 154), it admitted that it did not pay out or advance money on the Project until July 17, 2012. CP 155. Hartford has also

conceded that it did not execute a written takeover agreement for the Project with the GSA until July 13, 2012. CP 156.

Å

Î

According to the recitals in this executed takeover agreement, WAKA notified the GSA by letter dated June 21, 2012 that it could not perform the Project and by letter dated June 25, 2012, GSA made a demand on Hartford under its Project performance bond. CP 169.

Hartford deposed WAKA's president, Mr. Wilson, on May 8, 2013. CP 177. During his deposition, Mr. Wilson testified that WAKA's loan with the Bank matured on May 30, 2012 (CP 186), and that the only thing that Mr. Wilson told the Bank about his relationship with Hartford was "[j]ust that they were the bonding company." CP 186. Mr. Wilson also testified that WAKA never provided a copy of its Hartford performance bond to the Bank, WAKA never discussed with the Bank its general indemnity agreement with Hartford or provided a copy of this agreement to the Bank, and WAKA did not discuss its outstanding bills from suppliers or subcontractors when it met with Bank representatives on June 18, 2012. CP 186.

During his deposition Mr. Wilson also testified that WAKA and the Bank did not discuss the fact that WAKA would not be able to complete the Project during their meeting on June 18, 2012, that approximately \$50,000 to \$60,000 of the money that WAKA borrowed

from the Bank went toward wages and travel expenses that were incurred on the Project, and that without WAKA's line of credit at the Bank, WAKA could not have completed as much of the Project as it did. CP 186. Hence, the Bank advanced money on the Project before Hartford ever did. *See id.* Mr. Wilson also testified that WAKA could not have done the work that it did on multiple projects other than the Project without the money that it borrowed from the Bank. CP 294.

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